(PS) Soriano et al v. Fresno Unified School District et al
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UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
EASTERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

RICHARD P. SORIANO, et al., Case No. 1:14-cv-02028JIM-SAB
Plaintiffs, ORDER REQUIRING PLAINTIFFS TO
EITHER FILE A SECOND AMENDED
V. COMPLAINT OR NOTIFY THE COURT

THAT THEY ARE WILLING TO PROCEED
FRESNO UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT, et ON CLAIM FOUND TO BE COGNIZABLE

al.,
(ECF No. 11)
Defendants.

(THIRTY-DAY DEADLINE)

Doc. 12

On December 19, 2014, Plaintiffs Richard P. Soriano and Frank R. Ortiz filed this action

alleging that Defendants Fresno Uedf School District and Lyle l®ban violated Title VII of the

Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. 88 200@* seq. On February 20, 2015, Plaintiffs

complaint was dismissed for failure to state anclaiOn March 25, 2015, &htiffs filed a first
amended complaint.
I
SCREENING REQUIREMENT
Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 8§ 1915(e)(2), the Cowrst dismiss a caseaf any time the Court
determines that the complaint fails to stateclaim upon which relief may be granted. |
determining whether a complaint fails to stateaanc) the Court uses the same pleading stand

used under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure .8(A)complaint must contain “a short and plai
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statement of the claim showing that the pleadertifleshto relief. . . .” Fed. R. Civ. P. 8(a)(2)
Detailed factual allegations are meqjuired, but “[tjhreadbare redseof the elements of a caust

of action, supported by mere conclusory statemeiaisiot suffice.”_Ashcroft v. Igbal, 556 U.S

662, 678 (2009) (citing Bell Atlantic Corg. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 555 (2007)).

“[A] complaint must contain sufficient factuenatter, accepted asu#, to ‘state a claim
to relief that is plausible onsitface.” lIgbal, 556 U.S. &78 (quoting Twombly, 550 U.S. af
570). “[A] complaint [that] pleadfacts that are ‘merely consistemith’ a defendant’s liability .

. . ‘stops short othe line between possibilitgnd plausibility of entitlemnt to relief.” Igbal,
556 U.S. at 678 (quoting Twombly, 550 U.S. at 557). Further, although a court must acc
true all factual allegations canbed in a complaint, a court need not accept a plaintiff's le
conclusions as true. ibal, 556 U.S. at 678.
.
COMPLAINT ALLEGATIONS

Plaintiffs allege their @ervisor, Defendant Rhoan, svausing racial and gender
derogatory language in the workplace, madeoglgtory remarks about Hispanics, and wou
send inappropriate texts that were derogatory asc®, national origin and/or gender. Plaintiff’
found the conduct to be offensive. After Defendant Rhoan’s conduct had been pervasi
consistent for months, in July 2013, Plaintif@rtiz and Soriano complained to Defendal
Rhoan’s supervisor about his actions and requestaddial action. Plaintiffs had saved sever
of the text messages which were provided eodhpervisor. Defendant Rhoan was reprimand
and advised to discontinue the conduct.

Plaintiffs allege that dpite being reprimanded, Defemtid&rhoan continued the conduc
unabated. After they complained, Defendant Rhoan began to exclude Plaintiffs from
meetings and assigned them to the least desirabterjal duties in the district that were usually

assigned to new or junior stafiembers. Defendant Rhoan atemnoved Plaintiffs from their

long term assignments at Scandinavian N&d&chool, which he knew was close to thei

residences, and made them drigevarious locations throughotlte district. Defendant Rhoan

also became more critical of Plaintiffs’ work and gave them write-ups that were a departure
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their previous posite performance reviews. Defendaridan ostracized Plaintiffs and did no
include them in janitorial meetings or colle&idecision making or repiorg. Defendant Rhoan
became verbally abusive to Plaintiffs.

Plaintiffs allege that from July througlovember 2013, they were subjected to raci
discrimination, harassment, retaliation, and bullying in violation of Title VII and are see
injunctive and mortary relief.

1.
DISCUSSION

A. Discrimination

Plaintiffs bring this actionalleging discrimination based orace or national origin.
Section 2000e-2 provides that it is “an unlawdahployment practice for an employer . . . t
discriminate against any inddaal with respect to his compensation, terms, conditions,
privileges of employment, because of suodividual's race, color, religion, sex, or nationg
origin. . . .” 42 U.S.C. 8§ 2000e-2(a)(1). Thexson makes it a violation of federal law for a

employer to engage in disparate treatmeitliarimo v. Aloha Island Air, Inc., 281 F.3d 1054,

1061 (9th Cir. 2002).
To state a claim for disparate treatment kgcdimination, a plaintifimust establish that
1) he belongs to a protected dag) he was qualified for his ptien; 3) he was subject to an

adverse employment action; and 4) similarly situateld/iduals outside of his class were treate

more favorably. _Davis v. Team Elec. C620 F.3d 1080, 1089 (9th Cir. 2008). A disparate

treatment claim requires the plaintiff to protleat the employer acted with a discriminator

intent or motive in taking the adverse empi@nt action._Ricci v. DeStefano, 557 U.S. 557, 5]

(2009); Wood v. City of San Diego, 678 F.3d 10I681 (9th Cir. 2012). This requires the

plaintiff to prove that the employer acted withanscious intent to diseninate. _Costa v. Desert

Palace, Inc., 299 F.3d 838, 854 (9th Cir. 2002).

While Plaintiffs allege that they are Hispanic or Mexican, the first amended compla

devoid of any facts alleging discrimination basgzbn their race or national origin. Plaintiff$

claim that Defendant Rhoan useatial slurs, made derogatorgmarks about Hispanics, ang
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sent text messages that were derogatory esctonational origin and/or gender, but there are
facts alleged to link any adversenployment action taken againseh to their race or national
origin. In the first amended complaint alleged®ox is checked stating Plaintiffs believe the
were discriminated against becaudetheir national origin. (ECF No. 11 at 9.) Such a me
conclusory statement is not suféai to state a plausible claim f@lief. Igbal, 556 U.S. at 678.
The first amended complaint does not contain faetllegations to allow the Court to reasonab
infer that Defendants discriminated against Plsdue to their race amational origin. _Igbal,
556 U.S. at 678-79.

The first amended complaint also alleges that their working conditions complg
changed and “no other employees who declinecbtaplain have had their working condition

undergo similar changes[.]” (ECRo. 11 at 7.) However, “indiduals are similarly situated

when they have similar jobs and display iamconduct.” ‘Vasquez v. County of Los Angeles

349 F.3d 634, 641 (9th Cir. 2003). akitiffs are not similarly sitated to employees who did no
complain about Defendant Rhoan’s statements.

The first amended complaint does not ineluahy allegations that the alleged adver
employment actions were motivated by nationalior@ racial animus. The factual allegation
in the first amended complaint do not allow feurt to reasonably infer that Defendants a

liable for the misconduct alleged. Igbal, 556 U.S. at 678-79; Moss v. U.S. Secret Service

F.3d 962, 969 (9th Cir. 2009). Plaintiffs have fdite state a plausible claim for discriminatio
in violation of Title VII.

B. Retaliation

The anti-retaliation provision of Title VIl provides that it is “an unlawful employme

practice for an employer to discriminate against any of his employees . . . because he has ¢

any practice made an unlawful employment practice” under Title VII. 42 U.S.C. 8§ 2000€F8(a).

establish a prima facie case for a claim of retialiaunder Title VII, Plaitiff must establish that
1) he engaged in activity to protect his rghinder the statute; Z2n adverse employment

decision was taken against him; and 3) there avaausal link betweenetlprotected activity and
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the adverse employment decision. McGinesETE Serv. Corp., 368.3d 1103, 1125 (9th Cir.

2004); Villiarimo, 281 F.3d at 1064.
Plaintiffs allege that they protested fBedant Rhoan’s use of racial and sexual
derogative remarks. Complaining about Defent Rhoan’s racial and sexually derogatiy

remarks would be protectedonduct under the statuteE.E.O.C. v. California Psychiatric

Transitions, Inc., 644 F.Supp.2d 1249, 1278 (E.D. Cal. 2009). After they complained, Plai
allege they were removed from their long terassignments; were assigned less desira
assignments that were usually given to neyuoior employees, were written up in a departu
from their previously positive employment reviews, and were ostracized and no longer inc

in meetings and decision making. Adverse awplent action is that which “well might have

dissuaded a reasonable worker from making or supporting a charge of discriminati

Burlington Northern and Santa Fe Fy. Go.White (Burlington), 548 U.S. 53, 68 (2006)

Plaintiffs’ allegations in the first amended comptare sufficient to state a claim for retaliatio
in violation of setion 2000e-3(a).

C. Hostile Work Environment

To prevail on a harassment claim, a pléimiust show “(1) thathe was subjected to
verbal or physical conduct because of h&]; (2) ‘that the conduetas unwelcome’; and (3)
‘that the conduct was sufficiently severe or pemeago alter the conditions of the plaintiff's

employment and create an abusive work emvivent.” ” Kang v. U. Lim Am., Inc., 296 F.3d

810, 817 (9th Cir. 2002) (quoting GregonWidnall, 153 F.3d 1071, 1074 (Sth Cir.1998)).

An abusive working environment is an eloviment that a reasonable person would fir

hostile or abusive. Harris v. Forklift Systenhsg., 510 U.S. 17, 21 (1993). A workplace is 3

abusive environment when it is “permeatedhwdiscriminatory intimidation, ridicule, and
insult, that is ‘sufficiently severe or pervasive to alter the conditions of the victi
employment[.]’ ” 1d. (citations omitted). Cdact that is not pervasive enough to create
abusive work environment doast violate Title VII. Id.

Plaintiffs’ conclusory allegations thatcaial and gender derogay language in the

workplace was pervasive and coteing is not sufficient for the Court to infer that Defenda
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Rhoan harassed Plaintiffs based upon their racatwnal origin._lgbal, 556 U.S. at 678. Whilg

Plaintiffs allege that they pvided several text messages tadddelant Rhoan’s supervisor, the

factual allegations in the first amended complairg insufficient to show that Plaintiffs were

subjected to conduct because ddithrace that was sufficiently seeeand pervasive to alter the
conditions of their employment.
D. Liability Under Title VII

The Ninth Circuit has held that Title V#’statutory scheme did not intend to impos

individual liability on employees. Miller v. Mavell’s Intern. Inc., 991 F.2d 583, 587 (9th Cin.

1993). Therefore, Plaintiff may not bring action for damages against Defendant Rhoa
However, Plaintiffs are also seeking infiive relief to endthe adverse employment
action taken against them. Based upon the allegatiahe complaint, Defendant Rhoan is sti
Plaintiffs supervisor and conties to subject them to advwersmployment action. Liberally
construed, Plaintiffs’ first amended complastates a claim against Defendant Rhoan in |
official capacity for injunctive relief.
E. Leaveto Amend
Rule 15(a) is very liberal and leave amend ‘shall be freely given when justice s

requires.” Amerisource Bergen Corp. v. Disis West, Inc., 465 F.3e46, 951 (9th Cir. 2006)

(quoting Fed. R. Civ. P. 15(a)). However, dsumeed not grant leave to amend where t
amendment: (1) prejudices the opposing partyig8ought in bad faith; (3) produces an undt
delay in the litigation; o(4) is futile.” Id.

As Plaintiffs are proceeding pro se in this action, the Court shall provide them with
final opportunity to correct the @leiencies of their claims. Rintiffs are again advised that
“[tihreadbare recitals of thelements of a cause of action, supported by mere conclus
statements,” are not sufficient to state a clailbal, 556 U.S. a678. Plaintiffs’ amended
complaint must set forth sufficient factual giiions of the conduct alleged for the Court |
infer that the defendants engaged in the miscoralieged. _Id. at 678-79If Plaintiffs choose

to proceed only on the claims found to be cognizebtkis order, they il so notify the Court.
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V.
CONCLUSION AND ORDER
Plaintiffs’ first amended complaint statascognizable claim against Defendants Fres
Unified School District and Rhodor retaliation inviolation of42 U.S.C. § 2000e-3(a), however|
the first amended complaint does not state any other claims for. relieé Court will provide
Plaintiffs with the opportunity to file aesond amended complaint curing the deficienci

identified by the Court in this ordeAkhtar v. Mesa, 698 F.3d 1202, 1213 (9th Cir. 2012).

If Plaintiffs do not wish to file aexond amended complaint and are agreeable
proceeding only against Defendants Fresno Unfiieldool District and Rhoan on the retaliatio
claim, Plaintiffs may so notify #nCourt in writing. The claimsilwthen be dismissed for failure
to state a claim. Plaintiffs will then Ipeovided with two summonand two USM-285 forms for
completion and return. Upon rage of the forms, the Counwill direct the United States
Marshal to initiate service g@rocess on Defendants Fresno dfSchool District and Rhoan.

If Plaintiffs decide to file a second anted complaint, they are advised that they m

not change the nature of thsit by adding new, unrelated claims in his amended complai

George v. Smith, 507 F.3d 605, 607 (7th Cir. 20010 “buckshot” complaints). Plaintiffs’

second amended complaint should be brief, Fe€iR.P. 8(a), but must state what each nam
defendant did that led to the deprivation of Pi#fiatconstitutional or other federal rights, Igbal
556 U.S. at 678-79. “The inquiry into causationsinoe individualized and focus on the dutig
and responsibilities of each imtlual defendant whose acts omissions are alleged to havé

caused a constitutional deprivation.” Leer v. Murphy, 844 F.2d 628, 633 (9th Cir. 1¢

Although accepted as true, the “[flaat allegations must be [suffent] to raise aight to relief
above the speculative level . . .." Twioly 550 U.S. at 555 (citations omitted).

Finally, an amended complaint supersettes original complaint, Lacey v. Maricop3

County, 693 F.3d 896, 927 (9th Cir. 2012); Valdepez v. Chertoff, 656 F.3d 851, 857 (9t

Cir. 2011), and must be “complete in itselftvout reference to theprior or superseded
pleading,” Local Rule 220. .
Based on the foregoing, itHEREBY ORDERED that:
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1 Within thirty (30) days from the dateof serviceof this orcer, Plaintiff must
either

a File a seconl amended corplaint curing the deficiecies identiied by theCourt
in this order, @

b. Notify the Cout in writing that theydo not wis to file a secomn amended
compaint and e willing to proceedonly againstDefendard Fresno Wified
Schal District and Rhoan orthe retaliaton clam; and

2. If Plantiffs fail to comply wih this orde, this actim will be dismissed fo failure

to obey a court oder.

IT IS SO ORDERBD. WIEL
Dated: April 9, 2015 i

UNITED STATES MAGISTRATE JUDGE




